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WAR REOGATIONAFHORITY

Newell, California

ires Ds 8. "‘I‘. Director
War Relocation Authority

Barr'Buildings
Washington, 25, D, C.
Dear lir, Myer:

Enclosed is a narrative report on
the incident of November 4th, written
by John Bigelow, Reports O0fficer at the
Minidoka Roloaa&ion Center, who is here
on detalls, A more dotniloa map of the
Administration area will be ment to you

with in a day or so.
SIGIED

Re Re Best
Project Director
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TULE LAKE INCIDENT
Occurence of Thursday Night, November 4, 1943
(Report prepared by John Blgelow, Reports Officer
Minidoka Relocation Center)

On the dark, moonless, cold and windy night of November 4,
around 150 young Japanese armed with sticks and clubs gathered
in the warehouse area and at the Motor Pool and then moved inteo
the Administration area to surround the Project Director's house.

.Thoy were discovered and fought three sepnrufo fights with
Internal Securlity offlcers. Three Japanese were selzed and one
Internal Securlty officer was injured. The Project Director
requested the Army to take control of the Pro ject and soldiers

captured flfteen more Japanese as the gang fled toward the colony.

BACKGROUND OF THE OCCURRENCE

Farm Situation:

A

A Japaness committee, which aai& they represented the
ecolony and which became known as the Negotiations Committes,
met with Pro jJect Director, Hay R. Best, and other adminiatrntiv?
officials in Best's office on October 26, presumably to discuss
the stoppage of work on the farm since QOctober 16, The com-
mittee's spokesman, George Kur#tomi, nisel formerly of the Jerome
Reloecation Center, presented during the course of the meeting the
colony's stand on the harvesting of the famm crops. The Japanese
residents would not harvest them. They were interested in pro-
duelng food for themselves next spring, but they would not touch

these erops. Furthermore, they did not want to eat food ralsed
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at the relocation centers and they did not want any food from
the Tule Lake Center to be diverted to the evacuee§loyal to the
United States.

Transfer of Food to Farmy

Mr. Best, R. B. Coszens, ﬂ.ol‘d Aseistant Director at San
Francisco, sand Leland Barrows, Acting Dlrector at Washington, D.C.,
worked out @ plan to have volunteers from among evacuees in re-
locatlion centers and outside harvest the crops at regular wages.
In view of the attitude of the committee, the Project Direstor
did not inform the Japanese residents of this plan or any more
than necessary of the appointed personnel. The same prineciple
was followed in arranging for the transfer of 32,000 pounds of
staple foods from project warehouses to the farm camp, which was
moved by eight stalf members on the night of October 29th. The
following day the Jupanese working in the warehouses saw that the
food was gone and at about the same time Coszens announced tc the
Press in Sen Francisco the plan for outside evacuees to harvest
the Tule Lske project crops.

In the November 1, meeting of the Negotiations Comulttee
with Pillon 8. Myer, Director of the WRA, Cogzens and Best in
Best's office, the committee sought to have the transfer of
food from the project to the farm camp confirmed officially,
and assurance that there would be no reoccurrences They wers told
that the food was the property of the WRA and that no accounting
of it had to be made to the Japanese colony.

fieasons for _msenmnt over food transfer

The colony's active resentment over the movement of food
to the farm camp probably was two-foldp
Le
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&« The Japanese residents complained that the food beling
gserved in the mess halls was lacking in quallity and
guantity and 'ﬁhw thought they were belng robbed of the
food so sent to the farm.
bs The majority of the Japanese residents were openly
pro=Japan snd they ddd not want what they considred
their food golng to eyacuees loyal to the United States,
gourse of Actiong

When the committes received no assurance at the November 1
meeting that more food would mot be transferred to the fam eamp
theﬁ' probably assumed that more food would be moved and made
thelr plans acoordingly. Yamatane, chairman of the Communications
Gom=ission established to carry information Detween the colony
and the Amy, stated later that he heard Tsuda, head warden
of Internal Security, tell the kibel boys to get the numbers of
the trucks used to teke food out to the famm and to find out
exactly how much was taken, but not to ge any farther. Perhaps
Yamatane made this statement in an effort to absolve Tsuda from
any part in the November 4 ocecurrence or he may have been relat-
ing m,ﬁao

Tension between Japanese and WHA Staff:

Tension between Japanese workers and appointed personnel
inaruaoci at several points after Monday's mass demonstration.
Several staff members stated they noticed surliness among the
Japanese and a falling off in working effieiency. The soclal,
eultural and circumstantial gulf that exlsted (as it does in

relocation centers also) between the Japanese residents and
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the appointed personnsl waa 'widoned in meny cases py an avoid-
ance of personal contacts whieh 1n the past ;:m"'%ﬁqp routine.
in the course of normal activities. '

Chester A. Falling, motor pool supervisor, stated that
the two boys came to him on Wednesday (November 3) and sald
they did not want to work any longer in the motor pool because
they ald not think they could do their jobs the way he wanted
thex done, After he told them to do the best they eould, they
came back a second time and askel to be glven truck drivers!
jobs outside the motor pool. The Motor Pool did not seem %o
function as well as usual on Wednesday and Thursday,

The personnel meetings on Tuesday and Wednesday at which
staff members expressed fear for thelr safety indicated that there
was & strained feeling toward the Japanese pervading the admin~
{stration area, One couple, Mr. snd Mrs. B. #. Gerry, whose
apartment was in e rather isolated location, spent each night
from Honday to PFriday outside the pro jects

Harry Kirkman, mess pmmr‘ty and supply officer, stated
that m%a of his Japenese workers told him that he was not popular
with some people in the colony and that H‘_ he were threatened
to let them know. Other staff members received little tips of
impending trouble from thelr workers.

Arrangements to gmt-eét Administration aresas;

After the mass Gemonstration on Monday the four members of
the Internal Security Stalf (Aeting Chief Delbert H. Cole, Fenten
¥ahrt, Bdward Bo rbeck snd Cs L. Payne) began nightly patrole of

e
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the two principal areas ooccupied by appointed fnvwml, the resi-
dential area near the military area and the office and resliden-
tial area southwest of the hospital. 1In additlion, two guards
{Ivan Bwﬁl and Wyron Mordoff) were assigned te a 4 Pil.~to~
midnight shift at the highschool area. Willard ¥. Schmidt,
national chicf of Internal Security, was on general surveillance
and Theodore Lewls, chief of Internal Security at the Central
Relocation Center, augmented the others., It was arranged for
the Internal Security officers on patrol to check in every hour
te the sergeant of the guerd and officer of the day at the Amy
poet and when & check«in was m-um than five minutes late the
military was t investigate.

On November 1, Best and It. Col. Verne Austin, Commanding
officer of the Military Policy detachment, conferred on arrange=-
ments to prevent any unauthoriged group of Japanese {rom reaching
a strategle location. On this date Hest issued an ordsr pro=-
hibiting public gatherings in the hospital, administration, WHA
resldential end warehouse area. The Tulean Diepateh, mimeo~
graphed project newspaper, on Hovember 4 issued a one-page supple~
ment, half Znglish and half Japanese, to the regular issue of
that date and carried Best's nctice. (8ee attached copies of
Dispateh)s Internal Security officers were instmeted how to
reach Best in case of emergency and arrangements were made giving
any member of Internal Seocurity sutilority to call in the Amy 1if
Best oould not be reached.

On the night of Fovember 3, Seymour Cahn, Acting Assistant
Project Director in charge of administrative management, spent
several hours driving around the pro jeet and observed many
groups of Japanese in places where they would not ordinarily be
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such as the warehouse area. On the morning of November 4 Best
telephoned Cozgens in San Francisco and said: "This thing

is going to break socn." He said that the proposed fence between
- the Japanese section and the admin:!.a-tmtion area (deteils of wrich
Coggzens had cleered November Z with the U,S. Engineers at San
Francls®) should be started immediately. Ool;in agreed.

CHRONOLOGICAL ACCOUNT OF THE OCCUHRERCE
8315 P.i. |

William T. Jarrett, farm superintendent, went to the Notor
Pool about 8315 ¥.M. to get three cargo trucke to be used to meet
‘outside evacuees at Klameth Falls and transport them to the project
farm vhere they were to work:. There were four Japanese in the
office and they lgnored him. After about five minutes another
Japanese boy came 1n, looked at Jarrett's requisition and said
something in Japsnese to the others. He then told Jarrett that
the dispetcher would have to lssue the trucke. When Jarrett
asked who the dispatcher was he received no reply. He asked when
the dispatcher would be back and again the Japanese ignored him.
Jarrett then left to find 0., E. Zimmer, Asslstant Projeet Director
in charge of ogémtiona.

8330 PLM.

Mr. Cahn and Zlmmer were dﬂviag around the warehouse and
rall slding areas and at 8:30 P.%H. talked with tw Japanese In~
ternal Security wardens on duty with & car nesr the reil siding.
They =aw no othor Japanese until on their way back to the admine
istration ¥®ilding they saw Tom Yoshio Kobayashi, an Internal
Security warden recently segregated from the Heart Mountain Ree

location Center, walking from the high school area toward the
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motor pool. (Kobayashi is heavy set, welghe about 200 pounds,
1s about 5'10" tall, has & round face, high cheekbones, looks
almost like an American Indian, combs hair straight backs.)
8145 P.li.

Best, Zimmer and Cshn parked at the rear of the adminis~
tration bullding., They saw Schmidt and Jarrett, walking nearby
and bliked the car lights to attract their attention. ‘Borbeck,
who was on duty guarding the administration area, came from the
direction of the Hecreation Mall and joined the groupe Jarrett
related how he had tried to get trucks at the motor pool.

. Japansse at High School:
Buell, Guard at the High School, toléphoncd Cole at hils

apartment near the military area anc told him there were some
Japanese taking lumber, WMahrt, who wae on duty guarding the

stafl reeldential mé near the military area, was parked in

front of Cole's house at the time. Cole sent him to the high
achoole

9110 P.¥.

Zimmer, Schmidt, Jarrett and Horbeck went to the Wotor Fool.
While Schmidt and mrhs;ek walted outside while Zimmer and Jare
rett went in end presented the requisltion for trucks. When the
.fapmaaé ignored them Zimmer and Jarrett went into the office and
took the keys for the trucke off the dispateh board. The Jap=
gnese said nothing in English. Jarrstt gassed up the trucks and
left with ’Ic'm other Csucaslan drivers.

Colony hears about trueckss

As &ismer, Sehmidt and Borbeck left the motor pool ene of
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the six or seven Japanese lovnging in the office jumped into a
truck and drove at high speed toward the Japanese colony. Antie
eipating reaction to the truck ineldent (in line with the colony's
coneern over the transfer of food to the farm on October 29),
Sehmidt went to the room of Theodore Lewls, Internal Seeurity
Chief of the Central Utah Relocation Center, and assigned him to
watch the open area between the administration dlstrict and the
colony for signs of large numbers of Japanese moving toward the
administration area. Schmidt then went te the military area and
informed the sergeant of the guard of the situation. He saw that
they wer: ready to act on short notice. He went to a certain
building in the military area where 4. Y. Brodle and J. K« Corbin
of the Federal Communications Commission, Ssn Francisco, were
conducting an investigation of an 1llegal radio tranamitter in
the Japanese colony.

Assembly at Motor Poolt

Borbeck remained in the vieinity of the motor pool and from
a point near the staflf reecrsation hall saw slx or seven trucks
drive up and unload men. He saw [lashes of light in the ware~
house area as 17 from {lashllights. 7

Going to kis poat Lewls walked close to the Hotor Pool
and also observed the unusual amount of activity. He estimated
that at least 5Q Japanese were congregated there, He saw a
covered Dodge convoy truock accompanled by a bladk plokup (iden-
tified as one of the trucks u;_algnui to the sleetrical department)
drive up and unload men. Both then sped away. He saw the plekup
make & second trip to the colony and back with men. (This black
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plekup was seen on three different oeccaslon lster in the ev&n&mg
and each time 1%t wes driven by Kobayashi. A few days previously
LKobayashl had tried te run down Jack Best, lb~year=old son of

the Project Director, with this plekup in the adw nistration area
and 1t was also reported without cem firmation that he bad tried

to run down two scl@ilers and several clvillans on other oceasionsa)

Emcounter with Japanese:

Mahrt who had gsen Japanese around the high school came

" along and pleked up Lewls and Borbeck on the road near the staff
canteen. Lewls and Borbeck @t into the back seat, They drove
down by the high school area t tell Suell that 1t was not safle
for him to stay there. A couple of 1. I, wardens were helping
him chase some Japaneze back twoard the colony. Ln the gzate of
the fence at the east ond of the warehouses Lthey saw six or saven
youny Japenese with clubses Lewis thought one was a threeeIloot
length bo two-by~four and another a four-ffot cane with a large
kncb on the end, ®hen HMahr asked them what they were ﬁnﬁ.ng

one Japanese replied that they were looking for & couple of friends
in the warehouse district. Jhen Hahrt replied that thw would
find the !‘rimc&jvam send them back to the colony, the Japansse
gald they would find them themselves. Iahrt teld the group they
had better go bacsk to the coleny, but they did not move, The
three Inta;ﬁal Seeurity o fflcere drove around the high sechool
puilding and contacted Buell, advising him te drive up to the
administration building. From there they drove back around the

school to the road along the end of the warehouses.
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Koboyashl 12291P!1.

As they were traveling toward the administration area the
black electricians' plckup came down the wrong side of the road
toward them, foreing Hahrt to stop. The pleup came btumpber to
bumper against the Intermal Security ear, Mahrt backed between
two warehouses to turn around end the plekup followed, blocking
the way the same as before. Kobayashl was driving the pickup.

When asked what he was doing there he replled:

: "We're not letting any produce trucks out."
Mahrt nak;dz

"Wno assigned you to that jobt"

"Nobody, I assigned myself,"” Kobayashli replied.

There were some remarks made about why he was not wearing
his warden's uniform and he replied that he 416 not wear it while
é@iM volunteer wo rk.

Borbedk reported one Kohayashi statement ;u followa:

"phis thing makes me mad. We will find out where those trucks
are if we have o get the guy that knows."

Lewis stated that he saw ten or twelve Japanese armed
with clubs end stieks standing &n the shadows between the next
two warehouses and 25 to 35 around warehouses near the butcher
shopss Kobayasii finally got in the plekup and backsed cut
allowing the Intemal Security officers to drive to the adminise
tration building. They went into the telephone office and ealled
Coles
i

r satarte for amt.h Palls

After leaving the motor pool Zimmer went to the adminise-
tration building and eat in his office talking with Best end Cshn.
' ' 10,



Zimmer kept looking at his watch because he wanted to leave for
Klamath Falles at 9:30 P.M, About that time he got inte a car
and drove to his apartment, 211j-1, near the motor pool, pleked
up his overcoat and drove around the motor pool to the prov ject
gate. He notleed an unuee al number of young Japansse men
congregated at the motor pool and trucks coming eand goings In-
stead of leaving he came back to Best's house to discuss the situ~
ation and stood with Best and Cahn outelde Best's house looking
at the activity at the motor pool and motleing groups of Japanese
drifting amé in the shadows, Having decided that nothing was
geing to happen immedi ately Zimmer returned to the gate. Cshn
went out to the gate to see him on some matter and then started
back to Bestt's house.

Zimmer saw another car coming up from inside the projest
and moved his car to the side to let the other man passs The
driver of the other ecar, Buell, the high school guard, came up
to hi:ﬁ in a state of excitement and reported that he had gotten
out Just in time, that hundreds of Japancse were coming toward
the administration bullding armed with sticks end clubs. Zirmer
pulle d his car to the slde of the road and walked back to the gate.
83120 P.l.

.The Japanese music being broadcast over the illegal trans-
mitter stopped suddenly at about 93125 P.M, s d Schmidt thought it
might be a signel of some kind. He left the miliSary area after
acdvising the soldier on guard in front of the officer of the
day headquarters to inform the sergeant of the guard that a
request for the Army to move in would protably be made within a
short time. As Schmldt drove toward Best's house he stopped about
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75 yards from the military area when a car came down the middle
of the road toward him shining a spotlight in his face. Thinke
ing 1t was an Army radio patrol car that had been informed of the
situation and was making a check, Semidt got out of his car
and walked over,
Kobayashl again : \
monnm again driving the pickup with four or
five Japanese in the back of 1ts After an exchange of questlons
and answers about what he was doing there, Kobayashi informed
Sehmidt that he (Kobayashi) knew about the trucks belng taken
anc that he, as a leader, and his gang were golng to soe to 1t
that the trucks were rnot going to leave the pro jeet; that he rep-
rescnted the people of the center and that they were going to glve
the WRA a lot of troubles Xobayashi and another Japanese tried
judo on Schmidt who outdudoed them and got back to his car,
heading agaln for Best's house.
Schmidt in Fights

Sehmidt parked on the far side of the road from Pest's

bouse and had started walking over when he saw between 30 and 40
Japanese in the shadows sround Bost's house and between nearby
barracks, They wers armed with yellow~colored clubs tm»cﬂ&wa&-
half te three~{set lonzs They appeared to be round, but not am.
large as baseball bats. Mve or six of the Japsnese attacked
Schmldt. He used the same hold on two of them, wrenching the -
left arm of one Japanese and the left arm e‘f the secund Japanese
from thelr shoulder m&kﬂma The soream of pain of one was heard
by Zimmer at the gate, Cshn, between the zate and Best's house,

and Best 1n his house.

'ﬁﬂa‘ Best! ®ake Best!"
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As Sohmldt got baek 1nto hls car during a lull in the
battle he heard the Japanese yell in Englishy "Get Bestd
Take Bestl". Best and Cahn also heard the words. Cahn was
returning to Festls house from the gate when the Japanese were
brought out of hiding by the flth with Sehmlidt. Cahn ren for
Best's house, but the doors had been locked and lights turned
off and in the execitement Best's son, Jack, could nd get the
door opens. OCshn crouched in the shadows between the door and
the sereen door while the Jspanese ran past waving clubs.
9345 P.M.

Best had witnessed Schmidt's fight from a window, couvld
see the Japenese milling arcund his house and therefors rat in
a call for Colonel Austen to ask him to take over the center.

ihen Schmidt started in his car for the military area to
call in the Army, Kobayashi tried to cut him off with the piokup.
Sehmidt eluded hims Mahrt, Lewls and Borbebk, who had been
in the telephone office and had heard Best eall CJolonel Austin
(sbout 9:50 PM) went out to the rain entrance to the administration
building and saw Kobayashi drive down from the direction of the
post office to the leave bullding and then cirele around ape
ﬁnntly when he saw the road was cut off b posts. As he turned
back toward the postoffice and Best's house the three Internal
Security men ran into the road and tried to flag hiz down,. EKobe
ayashl stepped on the jas and headed for them. BRorbeck said:
"We'd better get up there. It looks like theyare going to get
Best." They jumped to the lawn. He drove past the fountain,
turned to the right and stopped.

13.



Main Pight Starts: ” |

Lewls opened the door on the right side, reached across to

turn o ff the motor and plcked up a copper-colored flashlight that
was on the seat., Xobayashi jumped out the left side and began
shouting in Japanese. There were three or four other Japanese in
the back of the truck and they jumped down and started fighting
with the Internal Security officers. Borbeck testified that he
grabbed Kobayashl; that Kobayashi sald he was going to kill him.
Borbeck sald he hit Kobayashi who ran screaming toward the motor
pool. Mahrt reported that Kobayashi let out a weird yell, similar
to tlat of a coyote, to call other members of the gang to his

aid. The cry and the yelling of the gang in general was heard by
several of the WRA staff who deseribed it as similar to what 1s the
general idea of indians on the warpath.

Mahrt staeted that about 20 evacuees attacked them armed
with clubs and wooden gwords shaped like kendo swords. Bo rbeck
sald two boys attacked him with clubs while Mahrt fought one at
the rear of the pickup and Lewls used a little one as a shield
against a blg one at the right side of the car.

Borba‘ck Ingured:

| Borbeck testified that he saw two other boys coming from
another dlrection with clubs "which 1 believe were two feet long
and after that I couldn't recall snything." Mahrt saw Borbeck
trip over a large reck bordering the roadway and when he fell three
evacuees with clubs jumped on him. Mahrt was unsble to help him
becaus e "about 10 members of the goon squad, armed with clubs,

were between us."
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Mahrt stated that he struck one evacuee, wearing glasses,
in the eye and felt the glass shatter. Another Japanese kicked
Mahrt in the back while a third tried to choke hime He broke
avay and ran into the administration building where he met Cole.
They grabbed chalrs and went back outside.

Lewis, on the opposite side of the car from Borbeck, did
not know what was happening except that Borbeck and Hahrt were
also fighting,

Zimmer brings soldierss

Zimmer, at the gate, saw the scuffle Schmlidt had, which
lasted perhaps 45 seconds, and saw Sclmldt drive off. Zimmer
saw the pickup cirele around in front of the administration bullde
ing and in the dim light saw that fight start. W%hen he saw the
Japanese beating Borbeck he shouted: "Come on, boys. They're
beating & white man.," Twe of the four lsoldiera stationed at
the zate ran forward with him. One soldler took out his plstol
then exclained: "Hell, I forgots. It's not loaded." Zimmer and
the two soldieres met Cahn wlp had slipped away from Bast's house
when there was general confusion mong the Japanese surrounding
the place when Zimmer and the soldiers started down the gate.
The Japsnese seemed to think that the Army was moving in. Lewis
also went toward the gate unaware that Borbeck was serliously in-
jured. He saw 15 or 20 men between barracks. They carried what
looked like 1x6's, 4-~feet long, s=plit on one end to nuiu a handle.
When Cole ani Mahrt came out of the adninistration bullding with
chalire to help Borbeck they could not find hims The area was
shadowy and dark. They returmed to the building to lear that he
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had ecome in unaseisted. Dr. Mason was in the bullding and treated
him temporarily until he was taken to the mediecal dispensary in
the military area. Eight stitches were taken in a large gash on
the top of his head, four stitches in a cut over the left eye and
three stitehes in & gash on his chin. He was bmiaed from head

to footy, Schmidt had contacted Army officials when he reached

the military area and had gotten to Colonel Austin just at the
time that the colonel finished talking with Ray Best.

Three Japanese captureds

When Lewis entered the administration building, Richard
G. Traey, Assistant Flscal Accountant, said that Horbeck had been
beaten. He asked Lewls i1f the latter wanted a gun and recelving
an affirmmative answer went to a safe and brought out a 45 The
magazine was fulls Lewls stuck it in his belt and went out to
the rear of the administration building. Mahrt had a baseball
bat, Mahrt, Cole, Payne, Tmey and Lewls were there. Payne
had l‘i pistol and fired at the ghadows of Jepanese {leeinz toward
the colonyy Three Jap aness came out from bekind & ear or truck.
One macde a dive at Mahrt who sidestep-ed and swung the bat, felw
ling the Japanese. The latter lay still a few seconds then rose
to his hands and knees. A4 sec:nd Japanese made for Lewis who psulléﬁ
his gun ancé told the Jspanese to stop. He kept moving toward
.Lewks who finally stepped forward and s truck him on the head with
the pistol. H¥ahrt reported that he also hit this Japanese after
he had recovered from Lewlis's blow and stood up. The third
Japanese was Stopped by a blow frlom Paynee

This episode was witasased by Best and Zimmer from the
window of Best's office. These three Japanese were taken into the

16, |



mail room of the adminlstratlon bullding where they etood with thelr
hands above their heads, COCaptain Archer took eharge of them
there, at approximately 10330 F.M.

Pelephone Service not Disrupted:
The mall room 1s next to the telephone office with a glass

partition and door between. Contrary to reports current aflter
the incident, telephone service was not interrupted 6r endangered
at any time. Mrs. Winifred Bolts, who was the operator on duty
at the swltchboard, stated that she saw no Japanese that night
until some were brought as prisoners into the mall rcome No
telephone lines were cut,

Eighteen Frisoners

In all, 18 Japanese were taken pri#anars, nl; btut the three
mentioned atove were seized by soldisrs and brought inte the ade
minlstration bullding sirgly and 1n groups., Emily W. Light stated
she saw five or slx Japanese with thelr hands above their heads
being taken to the administration bullding by soldlers wiko had
guns at the back of the Japanese.

KEobayashi was captured near the hospital to where he had
drive: the pickups. Most of the Japanese were captured in the open
areas between the hospltal and the administration ares and between
the hospital®and the colony. Several Japanese Internal Security
wardens were picked wp and were released after belng cleared by
Gole . |

The prisoners were gquestioned indlividuwally by Amy and
WRA personnel in various uahm_mn end offices, with the mall
room belng used as & central assembly polnts The Japanese stood
with their hands above their heads except two who had cuts on
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on their heads. They sat. About six soldlers guarded them.

All 18 were placed in ﬁbc?ggisztal under guard since ali
had recelved injuries while being eaptured . Later they were
moved to & stockade in the military area by the Army.

No Japanese sho t:

No Japanese captured had been wounded by gunfire. There
were two rumors current regarding this. One was that a running
Japanese had been fired at point blark and hac dropped instantly.
The other was that a tank had run over a Jap mmese. No bodles
were found.

Lewis estimated that the total number of Japanese around
the warehouss, motor pool and edministration areas was from 150
to 200 and he called this a conservative estimate,

Activities of other WHA Stafl Members:

Beginning at approximately 10 F.H4. appointed personnel
living in the No. 200 barracks near Best's house, the adminlis~
tration bulldinz and the motor pool and the No. 300 barracks
near the Uarehoﬁsss, the motor pool and the pofaonnol recreation
hall became aware that something out of the ordinary was happen-
ing outeide. Several fixec the time Ly the faot thai they were
listeninz to the Richfield Reporter, a news broadeast from 10 to
10:15 P.¥. The racket made by the Army light tanks and scout
cars was the Ii:it indication of the happenings for many. Several
looked out or went outside and the fact that many saw Japaness
as wéll as soldlers indicates that as late as 10515 or }0:30 many

t

Japanese were still in the area, running tow rd the ooldny. Many
, " .
staff members heard shots, but not more than six, and few heard
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and few heard more than two o; three, all from the direction of
the colony where soldiers were -m;pturing Japanece in the firew

break between the colony and the hospital and in the open area

between the hosplital and the admlnlstration area,

Baker runs toward colony:

Several staff members saw tbp personnel mess hall baker
run toward the colony, a white towel in each hand, his white
apron and coat rlylng in the wind, as an Army searchlight played
on hime He dicdn't stop.

Starf members living near the mbtor,paol saw geveral groups
of Japanese between 10:15 and 10:30 P.¥. Hobert L. Hill and lrs.
Ruth F. Sreece saw one group of five or six carrying stout sticks
and elubs run past from the direction of Best's houses H. U,
Smith saw sbout 50 men armed with pilck-handles or bats standing
in groups hear the motor pool and one group of eight or ten young
men carrying clubs or bats came from the staff dining hall area,
passed him and went toward the motor pool., He said: "Hello,
boys", to them sd one answered. They seemed excited.

Clarence Benz came out of the reoreation hall about 10:15
P.l, and saw six or eight Japanese running toward the hospital
whiah s tands between the adminlstration area and the colony.

Mary C. Durkin saw about 24 boys running tow ird the aﬂlﬂny.
hands over head. She also saw one warden running and twe wardens
in & ear.

See Japanese near Best's house:
Those living in darracks olbserjto Best's house saw in

that area. HMrs. Marion Francls looked out the door shortly

after 10 ?.¥. and saw figures énrrying sticks running around the

end of the barrack next to Rest '-c housge. 19,



About 12 others were silhouetted against the lights of the ad=
ministration bullding. sﬁo saw these, all of whom ecarried sticks
or bas=ball bats, huddle in the shadows of the adminiatrntion
building for a few minutes then break and run in the direction
of the warehouses. A few minutes later while standing at the front
entrance of the administration buik ing she saw two Japanese
drive up. They said they were wardens . Upon being told that
the Army was taking over, they got into the ear and sped toward
the colony.

Frank D. Fegan, living in the barrack next to Pest's house
saw the piekup chase Schmidt toward the mllltary area, clrele
back and stop midway between Eest's house and the administration
buildinz. Through the darkness he could see some sort of com-
motion, heard some shouting and then saw boys carrylng three-
foot elubs running aeross the lawn of Best's lhouse. Mrs. Zell
Ciark, ‘llatg.ng across from Pagan, saw about six teen=-age boys with
clube run past her door.

ﬁra. Margaret Green passed about 20 Japanese armed with
clubs near the motor pool. They 'came quite elose to her and
she heard one say: "Let the lady go." She was not touched.

Emest L. Hitt drove a emm from hls apartment near ‘tha
military area to the front gate via the motor pool, Emest L
Hitt drove & car from his apartment near the milif-o.ry area to the
front gate via the motor pool, He followed the car of a neigh=
bor (Mrs. Lauritzen) at a distance of about 50 yards. FHe saw

several Japanese 1ln front of the administration b“"ming'ﬂéﬁ



or six close to the staff recreation hall and as he passed the
motor poel from 12 to 14 Japanese, wo had heard Mrs. Lauritzen's
car go by, rushed out. One with a e¢lub in his hand rushed toward
the gar. Hitt instinetively ducked and the car swerved striking
the Japanese, Hitt kept going and did not see what happened to
the man he struck.

Kove into Military Areas

Staff members in the No. 100 barracks near the military
area saw no Japanese, They were sent into the military area with
their families ghortly after 10 P,¥, and from there rwit;muad
Army esctivity eand heard two or three shots from the dlreetion of
the colonye At 10306 P.¥. Lorne Hﬁycke heard a whistle from
the military and saw soldlers emerging from barracks, guns in
hand. Esrlier in the svening Huyeke was in the colony on business
and about 7 P.¥. saw a Japanese whom he had rotlced being active
in the directing the guards during the lfonday mass demonstration.
He identified one of the Japanese captured Thursday night as
this man, While in the colony until 7:30 F.d. Huycke saw no
indications of what was to occur later In the evening.

About midnight, just as the women were preparing to put
the children to bed in the day room and old olderly room, the: Ammy
gave them permission to return to thelr apartments.

JAPANESE COLONY'S RHACTION TO THE THURSDAY NIOGHT (HOVEMBER 4)
EPISODE

Flve issues of the Tul an Dispateh, mimeographed project
newspaper, wer published in the Japsanese colony after the Army
t 21 '



took over on NHovember 4. From information at hand it scems that
Whk-owned mimeograph machines were sti.l in the Dispateh office
in the colony until Kovember 9 a2nd were used to put out the ise
sueg of November & and November ©+ The issue of November 1l
states: "Thanks to the Amy our hand-cranked mimeogreph machine
has been restored to the Dispateh.”™ The eplsode of November 4
was referred to in twe of these five issues of the Uispateh, the
issues of November §, and in the first of two issues published
en November lls The {lrst written account of the episode was
given to the colony in the 1ssue of November &, This story
enlléd the eplscde in the administration area "a minor incident".
it sald a "number of tear gas bombs were thrown at residents
standing by the zone limit,” The story also mentioned the fense
~ belng bullt "to keep the residente away from the Ad. area.,"

This firet story printed the day after the episode was very brief.
"The facte of the incldent are being closely guarced by the
people's committees”, the artiele concluded,

A banner headline in the firest af iwo issues put out on
Hovamber 11 prooclaimed: "DRETAILS OF LHCIDENT WLEISED BY COMe
MITTHE". The story speaks for itaelf:
83X YOUNC MEN STILL BELD BY ARMY POR INVESTIGATLOR®
fafter giving the detalls of the incident whish led to the inter-
vention of the Amy to the Speanish Consul, the negotiation com-
mittee relesnsed to the press the following story:

Muring the negotiatieon witk Plllon S« Myer and Haymoné Beast, these
two had promlised that in cese any food was to be taken out of the
warehouge, they would d 8o openly. Howsver, in spite of this
promles, on the night of NHovamber 4 about 93130 the internal secus
rity foree-spotted some Caucasian entering the warehouse,

- During the resulting investigution, quarrel broke out bee

tween the young men who had accompanied the wardene and the Cauoe
asian.

Fearing that the Cauwcasians were to be kidnapped, the
Wia offlelials lad celled in the Army.

22.



As a result of this incident six young men are still
held by the Ammy for investigation. One of the slx, Fred
Mukul, wae taken out of the center and the Amy officlals promised
to glve a full explanation of it today.

The extent of the injuries of these six are not known but
it 1s reported that they are not serious.

In case the othera are taken out of the center the Army
had assured the committee that they will give full explanation of
such action. ! ' :

FIRST-HAND COVERAGE OF THE NOVEMBER 4
INCIDENT BY WNEWSPAPER KEPORTERS.

One newspaper reporter, Nick Bourne of the Unlted Press,
San Francisco, was staying in the Center the night of November 4
as a guest of Hay Best, Project Director. When the attack was
made upon the a.dninlstrttivo' area he was an eye-witness since
Lis room was one barrack away from BSest's house. He was not
permitted to wander -o.round the area at random. He telephoned a
story'and later was driven to Tule Lake about 1:00 a.m. by Nr.
Franks, cost accountant.

Will Stevens, Sen Francisco Examiner staff writer, ﬁad been
sent to the Tule Lake Cemter to investigate the demonstration of
Monday, November 1st. At the time of the disturbance Thursday
night he was in a tavern 2 few miles down the highway from the
Center when a soldier's wife entered and exclalmed: "The Amy
las taken over the Jap campl"

48 soon as word of the Army's action raached the town of
Tule Lake, Zdwin Davis, editor and publisher of the Tule Lake
neporter, weekly newspaper, went to the Center with an Aze rican
Legion oflflelal and a state patrol oificer. Dﬁvis and the Amer=-
ican Legion officlial demanded entmnce in their capacity as dep-
uty sherifis. They were inside the center for a few minute  ani

then Iori; escorted cutside by the Ar y;
23,
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The motive behind the oeqi;rnnao on the night of November
4 seems to be the determination on the part of the Japanese to
prevent trucks from hauvling food from the projeet to the farm.
One group, as stabed by Yamatene, perhaps did not want to try to
stop the truecks, tut simply to obtain informetion to be used in
pressuring the admingstration into changing the mess situation.
‘.I.‘tmi kibvel boys from Jerome and Topaz who had been using strong-
arm tacties since thelr arrival and had shown contempt for law
and order in the colony no doubt w:inted to stop the trucks. They
had been watehing the warehouses nightly. uhen a messenger from
the motor poeol brought word on Thursday night that three farm
trucks had been taken out they eprang into actions Trucks hauled
équads of them from the eolony to the warehouse and motor pool
areas. When nothing developed at the warehouses the scene of
action shifted to the motor pool. DBy this time the gang was
lfeyed ups. They had successfully pushed around the appointed per-
sonnel during Monday's mass demonstration. To thelr way of thinke
ing the administration had high~handed their committees and no
relief was in sight. They felt that the committee was getting
nowhere with the administration and this gang was impatient for
actlion.

Ko one knows at this time whether they planned ahead of
time t try to kidnap the project director. It would seem that
any group as well organized as thls one appeared to be during
the mass demonstration would devise a more successful method of
abducting the project director, who was often out and around
by himself, than by running around his house in numbers, yelling:

24.



"Get Best! Take Beati"

It seems likely that when they left the motor pool and
slipped into the area around Best's house they were not following
any preconseived plan, but rather a scheme emceived on the dpur
of the moment to terrorise the appointed personnel, especially
the projsct director, and to zrab the project director if they
had the opportunity.

The Thursday night occurrence probably disrupted the
negotiation committee's plans to continue to apply pressure on
the administration to forece them to accede to demands. This
committee has displayed enough intelligence and cunning to raise
serious doubt that they would have sanctioned such an abortive

exhibition of violsnoce ;Wd them nothing.
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TULE LAKE INCIDENT g
'

Report of the Army Sealrch of the Colony November 26, 1943
(Prepared by John BIgsIow, Héports Officer, Minidoka Rel, Center)

A week or 10 days after the Army took over the Tule Lake
Centdr the Army decided, after negotiations with the colony's
representatives had broken down, as shown by the November 13
mass meeting, they would take into custody the men who had played
a prominent part in meking demands upon the- Army and WRA and
who evidently were tryling to get politicel control of the
colony and were misleading the colony regarding negotiations
between themselves and the Army,

There were four such men not in custody: Shizuo Kai, 31,
formerly of Fresno, California, and the Herome Relocation
Center; Ichiro Hayashi, 26, born in Japan, formerly in Sand
Island internment camp, Hawail, formerly of the Tercme
Relocation Center; Mitsuho Kumpra, 27, American citizens,
formerly of Englewood, California, and Jerome Relocation
Center, and Toshlo Kurstomi, 28, American Citizen, formerly
of San Diego and the Jerome Relocation Center,

At a meeting with the block managers and delegates on
November 16, an Army spokesman asked them to produce the
four leaders so that a peaceful, normal community could be
achieved, The four were not produced,

Army Mekes Ssarchs

When the Army moved into the colony shortly a fter daylight
on I'riday, November 26, the Japanese residents probably thought
~they were looking only for people, espedially the four ring=-
leaders, On the contrary, the Army looked for contrzband and
selzed food and objects not commonly called contraband,

The Army had two principal teams which worked from each
slde of the camp towards the center firebreak, A heavy fog
covered the colony all dgy reducing visibility to 60 to 75
yards. The Army used a large number of soldiers to insure that
no colony resident could slip back into an area that had been
searched, Small squads of soldiers searched every barrack,
top to bottom. Boxes were examined, Space between the cell-
ing and the roof was looked into. Floors were tapped and in
a number of casesg cellars were found,

Large quantities of saki were found in various stages of
production from fermenting mesh to the finished distilled
product. One large distilling operation.was uncovered with
nearly two truckloads of finished liquor,.

Because ricé is mamed in making sakl the Army confiscated
all rice found in barrascks, The total has been asgtimated at
11 tons., Some of the rice was in bags bearing Quartermaster
markinge., Canned goods in boxes marked with the Quartermaster
symbol were talken when found in private rooms,
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Wood canes, carved and polished, were picked up by the
dozens, Radios with dials which had short-wave bands were con-
fiscated without any attempt belng made to determine whether the
radio still had short-wave receiving equipment, 8Scores of radios
were taken, Knives with blades more than six inches long were
confiscated, About a dozen double-edged axes and several
hatchets were found and picked up. A pair of field dinoculars
and 'a camera were confiscated., Locked boxes and suitcases were
taken along to be opened later if the owner was not present to
do it at the time of the search,

All conflscated articles were lesbeled with the owner's
address and for some pleces, such as radios, recelpts were
given to the owners. IMuch of the sakh ,mash was dumped and the
barrels left. The finished product was taken to the Army ware-
house, WRA personnel and Army personnel worked together to
try to establish ownership of such items as rice and canned goods.

An inventory of what was confiscated, how many stills were
ound, how many cellars were un@overed, etc.,, is not available
t present from the Army, The FBI and the Army are meking o
lose scrutiny of all items picked up,.

Leaders Not Found:

The four leaders were not picked up, Andrew Sugimoto, for-
merly of Poston and who was ranked fifth after the four leaders,

was found hiding in the corner of a room which was not his home,
The writer of this report havpened to be present when he was
identiflied and placed in an Army car near the place where he

was found,

In response to questions Sugimoto, who had been active as
the man who prepared the report on food conditions for the
Spanish consul and others, said that he knew he would be caught
end that he had remained in hiding only to allow time for the
Spanish consul to arrive,, He said that the other leaders had
"scattered" and that he hed not seen them for seversl days.

Speculations about the four not found ran to various
theories: That they disguised as women; that they hid in a
tunnel, an attic or under a floor; that they dug under the
fence in the fog and remained outside the project during the
search,

About 90 persons were picked up, about half of whom were
people without Army identification ecards which were issued to
a2ll residents of the colony when 1t became the segregation center,
The other 45 were persons in the Hawailan Kibel group who were
wanted by Internal Security.
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Attitude of the Colony Residents:

The search was conducted without anoutbreak of any sort.

The soldiers in general showed conslideration for the
residents snd did not tear up rooms more than necessary. Soldiers
were observed playing besketball with Japanese youths while
waiting for other squads to datech up.

There have been reports of soldiers taking monel and
jewelry from rooms,

The colony-wide search was completed about 5 pe.me

L




WAR RELOCATION AUTHORITY
COMWONITY ANALYSIS SEURBN. .00 rioronee

Repors of Talkm, Joples attacied, by Gol. Verne Austin and R. 3. Cozsenms
at outdoor stoge im Jupaneas Colony Fovember 13, 1943
(Prepared Ly John Bigelew, Revorts Offieer, Winidoks Rel. Senter).

: in the '.#Wﬁﬁmﬁiﬁ%ﬁmiﬂﬂﬂ»ﬁﬂﬂmtﬁn
Wmmmwrmﬁ;mmmumwmmmm
off isfals, Colonel Austin and r., Cozsens decided %o mske clarifying
statensnts at a mass neeting of Jspsansas residents at She oubdoor siage
in the eolony &b 2 P, Beturday, Hovesbor 13, This meeting wa called
nmmwmuumﬂmmmwmsm
newspaper, on Novenber 1l.

The Digpateh story gove the Laprescion that the mecting was callsd
by the Negotiations Comalttes: WWith the understanding and approval of the
Aray officlale, o mass weciing of the entire center residents will ve held
- on Saturday, November 15, at 2300 F.K, at the outdoor etage.

*m negotintions comitter wili nake o report of the procecdinge
of the conferences with the Wi officlals st this ueeting.

facoerding to the vommiites, explonations of the details of the
negotiations for the return of the workers will be munounced by the WRA
ofTicials tonorrow.

ﬂ#mmmmmew wrhusmthﬁhn&

fuiled to report for work Thavsdey because they
:::m lﬁm mm's Mmiuiaghywnmto wrk, who wee 80 work
MQ
Op Fridsy the Viogk deldgabes met and voted unsnlmously, socording
$o mwnmmmmwmm. to cancel the mass meatling scheduled
for Godurday alternooi.
The Dispstch story, which mmm again that the Japaness took
the atdltude nm they were ruaning the ness meeting, resd as followss
Ang that there ween'!t any nsesssity for a anocs mest m
slxby -&m delegates present b he repressntative ascting

perday afternson ot less wmmwwmmmmmn&uu

for this sftarmoon at the commmity stage.

#7he negotintion committee had planned to meke s detallel re;ort
$0 the entire vesidents ae to the progeedings of the conferences. However,
with the terminetion of the negotiations with the immy offielals,
the ocomal ftee felt thet there waen't any vepors %o be mads $o the
conter at such a

*The eamtm reporbed %o the elocted d slegates presant $hat the
mmmmumwwmmmmmwmmm
ognire tha conmitlies se true representatlives of the &

*aseording S0 the comadttes, the Aray felt that thay knew how sany
workors were neoded 1 each division snd the WA hoving worked with the
Japanose should xnow who should work in each d ivision,
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Mmmrwumwmor'n.m
tw#&.a. (mmmm!umm)m@wwwmmuuu
order b0 the colony %o bLegin a hunger strike ot moon on Sunday November -
14, and $o offer ive resistance %0 the Amgy and WiA,

The Hego ons Commities's notlice read as followss

"Secause of the aetions of the milisary, as s6lf respecting
pereons, there 18 no other way for us to Skice than the following)

1. All ishedbitonts of center offer passlve resistsnce to both

Wih pereonnel and Amgy porsonnsl.

2. ZFrom todsy noon, all mesy halls are $o be closed, and a

imgar strike -a-m be instituted. The present food supply will

be, an far as posnidle, givem out to the people of the werious

3. tr.tu-&liwmwmdur. d not open the door
yourself,
4. The cantesns will be closed.

Pron the Committes Headquarters,”

msutphumuwwmmm -Mhamwm
it stated that the mess halls shall mot be glosed, Five
and seven addresses were written on the baack,
nut&numnmmpmummmtm
r



Gogzens met in the eolony with the block
and diecusped the possibility of a

HNovesber 1

Golonsl Auat'n and Mr.
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H-namnﬂmn&tum;mwm
of Canter aotivitles,

i know that the majority of you went peace snd the opportunity
unmmwmﬁmm.nmummm
appayently leck respect for order,

i expect o see %o 4% that you have 1% ﬂ

“hose who instigated and jeipated in the discrders
wumw.mmmwtum ‘

wdAitional nessures deemed sssentiel during Lhis emergeucy are
m&nmﬁ&umwtdmmmm i naall resd

Gentews Ly virtue of the suthority vested in me s Commnding Ufficer snd
in ordor to provide for safety and 4 ity, it is ovderedd

1. That between the hours of 7 P W and 6 A K al) persoms of
awmmmwnmwmmm,mwﬁm
tholr place of redidence. This shall not be interpreted to provent aocess,
however, t© lenndry and lavetory facllisies,

2, lo cubdoor meetings Or gatherings shall be parmitied without

ey msmm?mawmmmm, jnsefor o8 is
the milisary authoriiies,

e meiwmmmmwmhm
m&mmmmmmmm“mmmmmm

e incoming ur eutgoing telophone ar telagraph noasages
mmy:lmdwxmmmm S o 3

6. Failure t0 Gbserve striob adheresse Vo all military yogwe

 istions will mesult in diseiplinary setion fortlwith.

7. ALl pereons of Japenete sncestry uball reside in the

of 8 loveuber o sherein by procleasation it wss awncwnosd that

militery mzt&m had w: over control of this Centar. me

w erstion of ell center residents Tots is solicited, Verme Austin, ik, Coles
o Commanding,

Sepending upon the degree of cooperstion in this ewergemey will
be the futuwre course of $his center. The military is prepaved to meol
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SPEECH BY LT. COL, AUSTIN AT TULELAKE CENTER

On the night of November 4, 1943, at the request of
WRA, the military assumed control of the Tulelake Center.
The purpose of thls action was to provide for the safety
and welfare of every reslident of this Center. This purpose
was achieved at once,

Sinece that time, the military has continued in control
of this Center. Upon assuming command, I lssuved & proclama=
tion to all of the rasidsnth. I ehall read 1%t agaln in
order that you all may be informed of its content:

Camp Tulelake, fﬁlslake, California, 6 November 1943,
Proclamation: The Army having taken over control of

the Tulelake Segregee Center at the request of the WRA,
strict discipline will be meintalined at all times. Ho
outdoor gatherings will be permitted, The Commanding
Officer will be glad to meet with any properly selescted
representative committee to dlscuss any problems relae
tive to the administration of this Center, Verne Austin,
Lt. Col,., CuP, Commanding.

It is the Job of the Army to see that the Center
returns to normal aparAtions. At present, operations pro-
viding for the cobtalning of food, shelter, and warmth are of
first importance and are belng maintalned. The providing
of these essentlals shall be directed so that it shall

benefit the greatest number,
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but_in prescribed by the military.

Certaln of your group have called upon me with
demands and suggestions as to how this shall be done.
Until such time as I am convinced that the situation
demands, and that respect for constituted authority returns,
I shall be the judge of how thls job will be done. I
shall continue to welcome visits and suggestions from
reprosentative groups of your numbers,

The sooner normal center operatlons, including
the operatlon of schools and community projects, can be
resumed, the better.

he time is entirely up to you. Opportunities for
work will be provided in the following manner: With
reference to employment procedure, we deem 1t advisable
te proceed in the following wanner: That we request the
number of evacuees needed from time to time in each
operation and will increase the number of employees as
we increase operations. However, we will make the
determination of the number who are tc be employed in
each operation. All employees entering the main gate
must be on the employee list.

Imnediate relatives of patlents in the hospital
will be allowed to visit durlng regular visiting hours
designated by the military,

Cooperation is necessary to bring about a full

resumption of Center activities.
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I know that the majority of you want peace and
the opportunity to live unmolested by hoodlums and goon
squads, as well as others who apparently lack respect
{for order.,

I expect Lo see to it that you have it.

Those who instigated 8nd participated 1n the dis-
orders leading up to the Army's occupation shall be
dealt with, '

Additlonal measures deemed essential during this
emergefCy are contalned in a prociamation now posted in
your mess halls. I shall read it for your information.
Headquarters, camp Tulelake, Tulelake, California, 13
November 1043. Proclamation Number 2. To the residents
of Tulelake Center: By virtue of the authority vested
in me &8s Commanding Officer and in order to provide for
safety and security, it 1s ordereds

l. That between the hours of 7 P k and 6 A ¥
all persong of Japanese ancestry, except as directed by
the military, shall be within their place of residence.
This shall not be interpreted to prevent access, however,
te laundry and lavatory facilities.

2+ No outdoor meetings or gatherings shall be
permitted without express military approval,

o« Normal Center operations shall be maintained,
insofar as is practicable, under direct military control
and in the manner prescribed by the military authorities.
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4, Persons of Japanese ancestry desiring to engage
in useful work at the Center shall be accommodated as
promptly as the situation permits.

5. ¥No incoming or outgoing telephone or telegraph
messages will be permitted without prior mllitary approval.

6., Fallure to observe strict adherence to all military
regulaticns will result in disciplinary action forthwith.

7« All perscns of Japarese ancestry shall reside
in the apartments assigned to them by the WRA.

This proclamation in no way limits or restricts the
statements of € November 1943, wherein by proclamation 1t
wag announced that the military authorities had taken over
contrel of this Center, Additional regulations and crders
will be proclaimed depending upon the situation. Cooperation
of all center resldents 1s sclicited. Verne Austin, Lt. Col.,
CMP, Commanding.

Dependlng upon the degree of cooperation in this
emergency will be the future course of this center. The

military 18 prepared to meet any and all situations.
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Internal Security employees Schmidt, Cole. Borbeck,
Mahrt and Lewls, Two additional In%brnal Security employees
made no physical contact.

Were Best's telephone wires cut and 1f so, when?

No.

ﬁhat personnel other than Borbeck were attaclked Thursday?
Sehmidt, Cole, Mahrt and Lewis,

What W.R.A, staff members have actually resigned and why?
Specify whether resignations requested by W.R.A, or
mptivntod by fear,
Aﬂbert R. Tinker, Ernest R, Rhoads, John Stubbs, Orville
Dalton, Maynard Johnson, Clifford Payne, Dr, John Mason,
Gdr;beile Harris, Jack %1111:mn,»Jnmea ﬁrince, Charles
Dunlay, Gertrude Ludwig, all resigned account of fear,
Ralph Peck terminated, :

Give fullest possible detalls on any damage :to Government
property or to property of caucasians ¥isiting Center,
Rancher Wilkinson quoted as saying his auto "Seriously
damaged," g

Rancher Wilkinson reported to newspapers that sun visor town

off and one door glass shattered in corner, Other damage
included radioc aerials on two ‘cars, One car door handle
taken, Windshleld wipers removed from a dozen cars, Two
cars reported scratches on palnt, A#r let out of several
tires, No other property damage.

Are volunteer farm workers now harvesting Tule ecrop fully
protected from possible harm by aglitators?

Volunteer far workers are fully protected and are under no
contract,

Were any knifes stolen from hesshalls?

No. DNot to our knowledge during the incident., Have re-

porta that some knives dld dlsappear priod to my administration,

R. R. Best
Project Director



Speech by R. B. Cozzens
at Tule Lake Center . November 13, 1943

It 1s & pleasure to have an opportunity to weet
with sueh a representative group of the Tule Lake Center,
T think it is important that all of the colonists in this
Center understand many of the events that led up to the
incident which oeccurred on Thursday night, November 4,
and why it was necessary for the War Relocation Authority
to request that the Army take over,

Many of you have lived in thie Center for over a
year. Heny of you have worked diligently and well with
the WRAgAministration., It was our bellef that operations

in the Center would gradually be much better than they
had been in the peast, We believed this to be true because
early in August we had moved ¥Mr. Best to Tule Lake as
Project Director. Mr, Best was selected as the Director

of the Project because he is an able administrator, he

is well conversant with the problems which confront you
and the Center, he iz a men who deals fairly and squarely
with everyone conecerned, and he iz not swaved by pressure
but makee his decisions fairly and upon the facts. Wany
of you remained at Tule Take and went through the segregation
period with Mr. Best. You know through experience that he
is the type of individual whom I have described.



qundiatoly following the completion of segregationm,
however, it was our observation that a few people from
the colony attempted to cause as much trouble and discord
as possible,

As you all kmow, the War Reloeation Authority has
operated under certain definite regulations., Following
the truck acelident in October, no contaet between any
representative group in the colony and the Director on
the Project was made until October 26, at which time a
group, who stated they represented all of the people
within the colony, called on the Director and made some
very definite demands. They were told by Projeet Director
Best that he could meet no demands but that he would be
pleagsed to meet with any committees to consider the facts
of each particuler case and make decisions upon those
facts., At that same meeting on October 28, this committee
who stated they represented all of the people within the
colony told Mr, Best that the co}any was not interested
in harvesting this year's crop ané that they were not
Interested in harvesting any ecrop or trading anv rroduce
with any other Center. That being the cease, othaf
arrangewents were made for the harvesting of this vyear's
orop--a c¢rop which had been grown with the assistance of

many of you.
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Between October 26 and the time of the meeting on
November 1, many of the subjects which were diaeulsid
with Mr, Best on October 26 were being investigated by
him. Plans were not being made, however, to meet demands,
as the whole colony knows that WRA"ll not in a position
to operate on that basils,

It was my pleasure to arrive at the Project on
Monday, November 1, with our NWational Director, ¥r, Nyer,
We had only been on the Projeet a short time when two
representatives of the committee wanted to know when we
could have a meeting with the committee. The representatives
were advised that Mr, Nyer would meet with the committee
on Tuesday afternoon, November 2, According to information
we have here, the residents of the colony were notified
in the wess halls on londay at noon that vou should all
proceed to the administrative area to hear the National
Director talk. This announcement on the prart of the
committee, or whoever called this meeting, was in direct
defiance to the Direotor and WRA, It was & breach in
faith to you people as a whole and placed a2ll those on
the Project staff and the whole colony who were not in

on the plans in a very delicate position.

_ I want to make definitely clear that & meeting
which eould have been attended by everyone had been
arranged for Tuesday, November 2, You people were called
to the administrative area on Monday, Wovember 1, in

direct deflance of that arrangement, The Director of
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the Authority did not ¢all in the military to stop such
a meeting, knowing you were on your way to the Administration
Building =~ many of you wives and c¢hildren -~ and that
you d4id not know & meeting had been planned for the
following day. MNeny of you d1d not know that while

you walted outside of the Administration Building the
committee, which stated 1t represented all the people,
sat inside with Director Myer, Project Director Best,

and others and attempted to use the gromp outside of the
building as a pressure group to force VRA to meet demands
which were heyond their control and whieh ecould not be
met,

T want to compliment everyone of you who were in
that crowd for the orderly manner in which you conducted
yourselves when you did not really know the purpose behind
your presence at the meeting.

Following Wonday's meeting, the colony was rather
quiet until Thursday night when some 300 to 400 young
men of your community formed in the motor pool area,
attempted to surround ¥r, Best's residence, and attacked
& number of Internal security officers, This again was
in direect violation of the instructions issued by ¥r,
Best --that no more meetings or gatherings were %o take
place in the administrative area., These acts made it
necessary for ¥r. Beat to reguest that the militarvy take

over immediately.
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It appears unfortunate to me that a few people '
among you who are of the hoodlum type and wish to cause
trouble are forcing the majority of people in this
Center to live under the present conditions.

I wanted you to have the truth of exactly what
the representative committee had attempted to demand,

I wanted yoﬁ to know definitely why the militaerv was
called in, It is our bellef that the =ajority of the
people in thils colony do want to live in peace and harwony,
thet many of you are willing to work and carry on the
necessary services, but thaet a few, in order to gein

power for themselves, have attempted to galn such power
through force. 4s long as 1t has been necessary for the
military to take over, it is also necessary that I

refrein from making any statement concerning operations

at the present time.

R. B, Cozzens



ort on Activities of inted Personnel
{Prepared by Jolm Bigelow, Reports Officer, Minidoks Relocation Center)
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Estition for Pences

4 petition dated August 26, 1943, was circulated by L. L. Thayer,
Assistant Procurement Officer, among the appointed persomnel at Tule leke
fenter snd was signed by 54 persons out of the staff of 177 permenent and
19 temporary employes. The petition addressed to C. Z. &immer, Assistant
Projeet Dirsctor, read as follows? !

"The attached list of signatures of appointed Caucasiam persomnel
at this project hereby register a protest agsinst the proposed femce now
being constructed in that Caucasian personnel quarters will be included with
the t::pmu. vhile the military area is being fenced to be on the outside
of Bres.

"I$ is srespectfully reguested that this protest be submitted

to Washington by telezram and the oriaiu.u.g proposed femce, that is,
exelnding the Caucasien persomnel from the Japsnese, be reinstated immediately®

Then Tale lLake was : as the jegregation center late
in July, 1943, plans were deve Jointly by the Army, U. 5. Engineers
and WRA for sfditiomal control of the Japanese segregees by increasing
the strength of the Military Police troops stationed here and by construoching
additional fences,

The fence plen included a nine-foot manproof fence on steel posts
set in comcrste completely swrreumding the center erea including the ¥4
administration and residential areas, but excluding the military arsa., A
fance betweon the administrstien area and the Japanese colony wes considered,
but wes not Tavored by aiministrative officlals for three principal reasonst

1. The military police provided sufficiant protection for the
administration areea. :

3. Checking of the movement of Japaneee workers and other
Japanese into the hospital, the zduinistration area and the warehouse arca
would require s0 much time and sdditiomal manpower that it would not be
feosidble as long az the WRA operated the camp.

3, Administration of the project on a peaceful basis would be
more easily obtained without such a fence on the basis that points of
frietion between the Japanese and the WRA would multiply in direct ratiem
$o the number of additional restrictions placed upon the Japsnese, lurthers
more, the status of the Japanese at the Tule lake Cemter had never been
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changed from slmply that of evacuees. As such the United States
Govermment did not went to emphesize thelir being trezted as internees
or prisoners of war. Juch a fence would symbolize the wardem-prisoney
situat ion, .

There was incressed nervousness among certain groups of the
staff prior to the November 1 incident, Carrie D. Driscell, a teacher,
told in her sialement of seversl instancesl & Jepanese man had come two
or three wesks previously 1o the apartment of Jene Zink, librarian, and
anocther teacher and had asked them to let him get warm. They let him
enter and plied his with questioms. He left shortly telling them that he
was new on the project. Zessie Burton, & teacher, one night saw sompone
bmut«othmwmdawofmmzm'n?tnul, One night, near
Hallowe'en someboly ran past kiss Burton's apartment, pausing to open the
Goor au they deshed by. OSeemah Battet testified that a young Japenese had
come to her apartment one night, said he wanted to enter that he had held
his foot in the door until she forced him to leave.

Following the wass demonstration om November 1, there was
censiderable dlescusslon smong ihe persons whe were openly concerned about
the amount of protection and 8 of security for themselves and thelr
families. This was certainly not imous state of mind, but it was true
of o large number of the staff members, ne group was oub=-spoken, smother
wae not 8o oubt-spoken, yel expressed relief when the Army moved in and the
third growp wes not concerned.

On lionday night following the mmes demenstration in the aftermoen
there was much discussion among the appoinied personnel shout the matter of
protection. Cne couple, Mr, and ire. 3. 7. Gerry, whoee apertment wos
rather isolated in the residemiial area facing the colony, did not stay on
the project Monday night and alse every other night until after the Army had
moved in, After Honday several staff wembers reported unpleasant changes in
the attitude of some Japanese workers toward appointed personnel.

{n Tuesdsy, Hovember 2, Project Director Best called a staff
meeking for 4:00 P.i, in Werd E at the hospital. This was a new factor in
the discussions concerning proteciion of the appointed staff. Foullowing the
beating of Ir, Pedicord ab the hospltal Memday there werc some expressions
frem $he staff in general thabt the Caucasisn murses should not return to the
hospital. On this line of thought it wes deemed unsafe for the staff te
gather ot the hospitel for o staff meeting. Discussion sathered momentum :
until by the time lunch wes over it was decided that an impromptu meeting would
be i held in the staf! recreation hsall,
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. About 60 or 70 persons attended this meeting, Kent Silverthorne,
m:mumm,mmu act a8 chairmen and declined. Janiel Cox,
Personnel Officer, then acted as chairmsn and a committee of four was nameds
Cox, Gerry, (uy H., Booker, Highway Engineer, and John O, Stubbe, Cost
Agcount ing Clerk,

Pw@toﬂmmthamalrdtnmtmmm
decided t0 ask lyer and Best to come to the meeting. Although they were
.hnt eitting down to lunch Myer and :Bnt immediately went to the recreation

Hyer, in what several staff mesbers described as "fatherly” tome,
told the group that they could expect pressures to be exerted on the staff
by the evecuces and that anyome who could not take it had better resign or
atalmt live off the profect for a while, He discussed fear, its couses
and effects,

+ Speaking for the group, covered three principal péints:

1. lyer and Best knew about the londay mess demonstration
45 minutes in advance and 4id not advise the staff.

2. Although the character of the Japsnese population of the
camp had changed and external security measures had been talken
accordingly, there was little or no change in WRA administrative
procedure in the Center and no new restrictions on the evacuses
inside the project.

%. The Japanese residents should not be allowed to enter the

warehouse, administrative and staff residential areas at random,
Pilfering and vandalism which had taken place before segrezation
could be expected to increase and yet no new measures were trken

to safeguard property.

Gerry asked if he could speak for the group and when they ap-
planded he teld Myer that it was not a question of fear on the part of the
employees but that the employees thought that it was foolhardiness on the
part of WRA administrabive cofficials not to¢ face the facts and provide
better protection for the administration area, UGerry stated that Myer's
attitude wes stupid.

Myer repeated that if anyone could not live and work on the
project under these conditions he should leave or at least get off the
projeet for 2 while. He sald that the personnel would have to place their
confidence in Best and that in a short time he hoped to be in a position te
ﬂummmﬁo aspurance that steps had been teken for adequate protece
tion of the sppointed personnel.
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ne, Mrs. Christemson told Mrs, Booker that she heard on of the boys
say, ummmm.mn.mumwmmx.

Stubbs made & statement that was remembered by all those
questioned about the first staff meeting. Stubbs said that compared with
Dillon Myer, Nevill Chamberlain was an amatuer,

Ernest Rhoads, fire protection officer, declared that he could
mtmmhummyumwmuwnumumm
under present conditions and that he was resigning. He declared that the
hospital was not a safe pl to hold the staff meeting called for 4230
that afternoon because t staff could be surrounded and cut off, He said
that he sbsolutely refused to permit the meeting t0 be held thers.

George B, Leuck, assistant fire protection efficer, said that
he doubted keyer's sincerity of statement. This declaration end & come
ment of Myer, reported by some, that there would be no meeting cancelled
the 4130 meeting.

The meeting broke up without further action.

Tuesday morning the nurses had noticed a decidedly unfriendly
atmosphere in the hospital on the part of Japsnese nurses and doctors.
After the staff meeting at noon the murses and doctors held an informal
meeting and Alma XK. Folda, Chief nurse, Helen K, Shipps, nedical social
worker and acting hospital administrator, went to see lMyer. They did not
see him, but through Harry Black, assistant project director, they were
told that they should not return to the hospital from then on and those
who had been living at the hospital were lodged at the Golden Hotsl,

Pule lalke,

(n Wednesday merning, Novewber 3, at 9 A.H. the appointed
personnel's committee met with Best. W. A. Leigh, fiscal accountant,
replaced Cox on the committes at this time Decause of Cox's disagreement
with the committee's plan of sction. 7he committee wae told that plans

being formulated for adequate protection of the appo ' céuld
f'e inted :
be diwwlged at the time and Best vas emphatic in his m:ni‘::::ftm hh:“
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Jepanese could not again asserble in the administration area as they had

dons Monday. 'This meoting was interrupted by the arrival of the Spanish
Consul fronm San Francisco.

The committee returned to Best's office at 2 P.M. vwhen
discuseions were along the same line

A meeting of the appoinied persomnel was held Vednesday night,
Novewber &, at the recreation hall to hear a report from the committes.
From 90 to 100 persons attemded. Gerry was the principal spseker and teo
follow his report there was a general discussion of the situation.

Three Caucesian truck drivers working on the farm were housed
in & room in the high school building. Fhen they went %o this room between
12030 and 1300 A M, on November 4, night of November I, they found their
beds upset and blankets and mattresses birewn about. Several beds, mattresses
and blankets were missing., The room had been equipped with nine or ten beds
afd bedding. The door was locked with a common loek, :

Twe of the three men were robbed--J. B. Stephens and Harvin Powers.
The third man, ¥, R. Iundle, found nothing missing. Stephens' suitcase, ‘
containing ration books, clothing and shaving articles was taken., Powers

The three men left the school srea and were housed in the
administration area thal night,

Une man (Powers) resigned the following day, The other two were
housed at the farm,

“welve nembers of the staff resigned after the Monday mass
demomstzation on Hovember 1 and before the Army took charge on the night
of Hovember 4. y

During the week November 1 through 7 there were 20 resignations,
but not all of these were related to the immediate condition, 4An additional
- person resigned and then canvelled his resignaticm and the cancellation wus

sccepted,

Of the 20 at least 13 resigned because of fesr for their
personal safety or some other reason related to the lMonday incident, or
other conditions directly commected with the situation existing at the
Tule Lalke Center.
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When R. 3. Cosgens, Fleld Assistant Director, returnad to
San Frenclace on Hovember 2, he contacted U. §, iagineers snd made sll
mwfwmmmtmwumtmwmm

Mtniﬁtmwtwkwmﬁfﬂumﬂm'lmt.
The mext merning, Bovebber 5, construction was begun of two nine=foot
thmwMﬂ:umth.mmtwmw
Jupanese colony from the entire administration ares end the other cutting
off the hospital from the rest of the administEat ion area.

& wmmmgnmmmm.,mlm-muw;w
set on o desk, Mmm&smﬁmmﬁdmw%ﬁ'me'

@hile this was en extreme resction, the awheral sttivulm of the
staff toward the Avay's taking over seened %o be oae of relief, Geveral
! : - under until the
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TULE LAKE INCIIENT

Report on the Beating of Dr. Reece M, Pedicord,
Chief Medical Officer, at the Tule Lake Center, November 1, 1943
(Prepared by John Bigelow,
Reports Officer, Minidoka Relocation Center)

BACKGROUND

The project hospital has been the object of complaints on
the part of the evacuees and the cause of friction on several WRA
projects. The complaints are generally of the same nature: not
enough attentlon paid to patients, minimizing, by Caucasian Doctors
of the necessity for medical treatment, and poor ambulance service.
A contributing factor was that Japanese doctors, who held positions
of respect and esteem in their pPre-evacuation communities, were
reduced to the ¢ ommon level of barracks and comminal living snd a
wage of §19 a month in the relocation centers. Many evacuee doc-
tors would not cooperate under such conditions.

Dr. Pedicord's Attitude:

These conditions were present at the Tule Lake hospital and
there were additional ones. Dr. Pedicord took charge of the hospital
on January 15, 1943. There were 867 employees in the hospital and
he proceeded to whittle the number down to 227 by accepting resig-
nations and by not filling these positions. Dr. Pedicorg has the
reputation of being a strict administrator. In his testimony be-
fore the California State Senate Fact-Finding Committee he stated:

"I demonstrated....they (the Japanese) could be handled and were

more efficient in their work if they were given to understand
instructions that were given were orders and not polite requests.”
His associates know him to be this way and they also believe that his
stern manner resulted in an efficient hospital,

However, while his methods were approved by most of the
Caucasian staff and some of the Japanese, they did not g0 well with
other Japanese, and those seeking political power did not hesitate
to use this general disgruntlement among the Japanese to further
their aims to gain control of the project, including the hospital,
from the WRA.

This report makes no attempt to decide whether the complaints
and criticisms of the Japanese were Justified, The fact remains
that the Japanese did make charges and whether their charges were
true or not they produced a state of mind among the Japanese that
led to the eventual beating of Dr. redicord.

Japanese Complaints:

George Kuratomi, at the Negotliations Committee's meetling with
Dillon Myer, national WRA director, and Project Director Ray R. Best
on November 1 made specific charges:




a. 4leplorable conditions at the hospital have caused the
ire of the center residents.

b. Dr. Pedicord made two appendicitis patients wait until
it was almost too late,

c. A person suffering from meningitis was refused care by
a Caucasian doctor. R -

d. A pregnant woman was given morphine injections which resulted
in a still-birtn.

e. It has been sald that some of the Caucasians doctors don't
have licenses to practice medicine.

f. Dr. Pedicord allows only one ambulance on Sunday for
18,000 people.

g. Caucasian doctors neglected a two-year-old boy who had
been scalded and as a result he died.

Kuratoml summed up the hospital situation in this way s
"It was decided by the evacuee doctors in this center that if such
doctors are to stay ln thils center and more or less see people die
from day to day they cannot stand to see such a thing exist. So it
was decided last night to ask the resignation of each and every
Caucasian doctor and each and every Caucasian nurse who feel so
superior that some of them believe they know more about medicine than
the Japanese doctors who have had big practices and lots of respon-
sibility."

Kuratomi, speaking for the committee, disclaimed any respon-
sibility for the beating of Dr. Pedicord which had been reported
Just as the meeting started. Kuratomi added: "Let me say this,
Mr. Myer, I don't want to see any violence. However, unless you
remove these people I have mentioned from the hospital until such
a time as an investigation has been held I cannot guarantee the
actions of the people. This 1s not a threat. I cannot stop these
people from swarming over to the hospital and getting after the
doctors." Later he said: "Whatever might have taken place over
there (At the hospital) and to Dr. Pedicord in particular might be
justifieg and some of the boys couldn't wailt until the conference
is over.

The Story of the Beating

Strangers in the Hospital:s

Shortly before he left the hospital for lunch on November
1, Dr. Pedicord was approached by Sam Morimoto, X-ray technician
who had backed the doctor's position in the hospital. Morimoto
told him that there was golng to be trouble at the Administration
bullding in the afternoon, "but I don't think there will be any
at the hospital."

When Dr. Pedicord returned from lunch he noticed, in the
hosplital corridors, a number of young Japanese men, some of them
rough 1n appearance, who were not hospital employes. Since it was
not a visiting day and because the colony residents sometimes went
through the hospital as a short cut from the colony to the admin-
&ggﬁf%é?n agea, Dr., Pedicord asked these outsiders to leave the

. even or eight of these small groups of two to four




persons left at his request, but others appeared and finally he
asked Dr. Mason to stay at the front.-entrance and not to admit
anyone except hospital personnel,

Others on the hospital staff noticed these outsiders. Dr.
H.K. Marks, Dr. Martin Loebman, Miss Alma K. Folde, chief nurse,
Mrs, Myrtle R. Johnson, dieticlan, Miss Helen K. Shipps, Medical
social consultant, Elizabeth M. Curren, supervising nurse and
others commented on them.

Dr. Pedicord met Dr. Marks in the hallway and after comment-
ing on the presence of strangers in the hospital told Dr. Marks
to lock all doors on Ward A so outsiders could not get into that
section,

En route to Ward A, Dr. Marks met five young Japanese men
coming in through the requisition wing and he asked them to leave
the same way. They talked in Japanese until one of them suddenly
shoved Lr. Marks out of the way and they all ran toward the main
wing with Dr. Marks in pursuilt.

Gang at Entrances

Miss Folda, whose office faces the front of the hospital
toward the administration building, saw two or three boys standing
by the front steps and they seemed to be walting for someone or
something. Lvidently they were waitling for other boys because with=-
in a few minutes from 10 to 12 young Japanese men 18 to 25 years
0ld assembled there and then walked up the front steps and into
the hospital, pushing past Lr, Mason who was stationed at the door.

Beating of Dr, Pedicord:

Dr. Pedicord had been in his private office only a few
minutes (it was between 1:15 and 1:30 p.m.) when he heard his
Japanese secretary cry out from the reception room: "Doctor
Pedicord! Come here quick!" He went out and found about 12
youths of the type he had seen around the hospital grouped in a
semi-circle around the hallway door. His secretary was gone.
(Later it was learned that she had fled to the laboratory and had
stayed there all afternocon.)

Dr. Pedicord said: ™What's the matter here?" and walked over.
When he came within reach one of the group reached out and snatched:
the doctor's glasses (and carefully put them on a nearby shelf).
Dr. Pedicord retaliated by knocking him down and the fight was on.

In the general melee that followed, the gang forced the 63-
year-o0ld doctor back into the room as he tried to keep away from
their kicks and blows., Finally, one managed to get behind him and
using a strangle hold cut -off his breathing. He slumped to the
floor with the Japanese still choking him, Another Japanese kicked




at his face. Dr. Pedicord saw the blow coming and turned his head
slightly. The kick landed at the corner of his left eye producing
a painful injury and one whlch could have affected the sight of that
eye. Another Japanese jumped with both feet at his stomach. Dr,
Pedicord rolled as he saw the blow coming and tensed his muscles.

As a result the blow landed on his side and amounted to a bruise
similar to the dozens of others that covered his body when the gang
was through with him. In the struggle a swinging gate in the corr-
idor was half broken off and left hanging.

Dr, Pedicord was carried out the front door of the hospital
in a semi-consclous condition and put on the ground where further
abuses were starting when Miss Elizabeth Curren, a nurse, and
others rushed out. 7The attackers dispersed and Dr. Pedicord was
assisted into his office where he received treatment. Dr., Marks,
chasing the Japanese boys, came on the scene at this time and went
into Dr. Pedicord's office to assist in treating his injuries.

The information about the beating of Dr. Pedicord was tele-
phoned to Best as he and Director Myer were preparing to begin a
meeting with a committee of 17 Japanese in Best's office. Willard
E. Schmidt, national chief of Internal Security, who was also
attending the meeting, was sent to the hospital. Schmidt was accom-
panied by a Japanese, supposedly one of the guards stationed around
the administration area during the mass demonstration. Dr. Pedicord
told Schmidt that the hospital situation was under control and that
he did not need assistance. Schmidt then returned to the administration
building.

Japanese, apparently at the direction of the negotiations
committee, were stationed at the doors of the hospital to admit only
employees and they also restricted the use of at least one telephone.

The Japanese hospital personnel did not exhibit curiosity
about the attack upon Dr. Pedicord. Only one or two nurses aldes
asked about his condition, according to Miss Folda. Miss Folda
also reported thattwo Japanese physicians who had been off the
active 1ist for several days prior to their transfer to relocation
centers suddenly appeared dressed in thelr white hospital suits.

Qutsiders in Hospltal:

Japanese who didn't belong in the hospital continued to
enter and move around. This probably was connected with the mass
demonstration at the administration building, as many women from

- this crowd said they wished to use the hospital tollets. Some then
left by the back door to return to the colony.

Mrs. Johnson had received, during the preceding week, large
numbers of women visitors who were alarmed over the interruption in
shipments of condensed milk to the mess halls. A shipment to the
project was delayed in transit and when the routine deliveries
stopped the people of the colony feared that a shortage would result.
When she saw the people streaming toward the administration building
and also saw many outsiders in the hospital, she thought that they




might be connected with the milk incident. (The deliveries of
condensed milk were interrupted for about one week). As she
watched the crowd from the diet room, or kitchen, one of her
Japanese workers saild to her: "I wouldn't go back to your office.
Don't go back to your office."”

Phones Restricted:

The restriction of phones did not apply to the phone in
Dr. Pedicord's office. The Japanese did not go there.

lMrs. Ella Webber was in the front hall when the telephone
there rang. When Miss Curren asked the Japanese guard why he did
not want them to answer the phone he said: "You might tell the Army."
When the telephone continued to ring this group of women, Mrs,
Pedicord, Miss Kiger, a nurse, Mrs, Smith and Mrs. Weber, decided
that it should be answered. One of the Japanese boys said harshly:
"No, don't answer it." When he was asked: "Who gave orders not to
use the telephone?™ he replied angrily, "The Japanese!"

Strained Atmosphere Tuesday:

The next day Caucasian doctors and nurses noticed a different
atmosphere 1n the hospital. TUsually courteous, friendly Japanese
hospital workers did not speak to them. Some of the Japanese
expressed surprise that the Caucasians were back ou the job. Some
were bolder than others in expressing their feelings. Miss Folda
noticed the marked silence and derisive attitudes. Dr. Loebman
reported that one Japanese girl who had never used Japanese in his
presence spoke 1n Japanese to other girls on Tuesday morning.

Dr. Marks noticed an attitude of disrespect on Tuesday
morning and sald that the Caucasian nurses reported "a definite
air of hostility."

Staff Meeting:

A meeting of all appointed personnel was held at the staff
recreation hall at noon and at this meeting the idea was expressed
that the hospital was an unsafe place for Csucasians. Mr, Myer,
when he was contacted later, agreed that the hospital staff should
not return. They did not go back Tuesday afternoon, November 2, and
stayed away until Friday, November 26, when they all returned. :
Dr. Fedicord recuperated in a Klamath Falls Hotel for four days and
then returned to the rFroject. He accompanled the special segregation
train out of Tule Lake, November 10.




Coneclusion:

It cannot be stated from evidence at hand whether the attack
upon Dr, Pedicord was premeditated or not.

It is possible that the groups of outsiders moved into the
hospital shortly after lunch as their part of the mass demonstration
around the administration building to keep the hospital under con-
trol. When Dr. FPedicord told them to leave, their antagonism
toward the hospital which he heagded, bolled up and they decided
to express themselves by beating the doctor.

On the other hand, Miss Folda saw a gang of boys meet at
the steps as if they had a pre-arranged plan in mind and go into
the hospital. This apparently was the gang that called on and
attacked Dr. Yedicord,
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History of Area B at Tule Lake - "The Stockade"

Why Area was hstablished: The need for a place where trouble-
makers and those suspected of troublemaking could be segre-
gated temporarily from the rest of the Japanese colony in the
Tule Lake Center suddenly arose on the night of November 4,
1943, when gangs of young evacuee men swarmed through the
administration area brandishing clubs and attacking WRA
appointed personnel. The Army took control of the camp to
restore order at the request of Froject Lirector R. R. Best,
A few days earlier, on November 1, a crowd of several thous-
and evacuees congregated at the administration building under
the direction of certain leaders to back up the negotiating
committee in their pressure tactics in a meeting with Mr,
Myer and Mr. Best.

Eighteen Japanese were caught in the administration

area the night of November 4. The next day the Army, at the
request of and upon information furnished by the Internal
Security, started picking up other men in the colony on
suspicion of being connected with the incidents of November
l and 4, of inciting trouble or of carrying on subversive

or obstructive activities,

At the time it was contemplated that the men picked up
would be held temporarily in the isolation area and eventu-
ally the citizens would be transferred to Leupp or to a
ssction of the Tule Lake Center fenced off from the rest of
the camp and the aliens would be turned over to the DLepart-
ment of Justice or llkewise isolated in a special section of
the Tule Lake Center. A few months later the prospect of
liquidating the entire population of the isolation area grew
strong enough to cause the abandonment of these plans,

Administrative Authority for Area B: Administrative regulations
for area B were issued April 26, 1944, as Manual Section
110.15, which stated in parts

"In order to promote the orderly administration
of the Center and to maintain peace and security for
the .residents, it will be necessary from time to
time further to restrict the movement and activities
of persons whose Influence or actions may be dis-




ruptive of the operation of the Center. Such
persons, after investigation and decision by the
Project Director, will be transferred either to
a separate area wlthin the Center, designated
herein as Area B, or to an isolatlon center out-
side the project. Since further separation of
Individuals is a purely administrative arrange-
ment to secure the peaceful and orderly adminis-
tration of the Center, only such investigation
need by made as is requisite for an administrative
determination by the Project Director."

Fact-Finding Committee: To make this investigation the Manual
established procedure for setting up a Fact-Finding Committee
consisting of the Assistant Project Director in charge of
Community Management, the head of the Internal Security
Section and the Project Attorney. 1In practice, the Fact-
Finding Committee was more concerned with transfers out of
Area B than with transfers to the area.

The Manual further states (110.15.2) that "residence
of any individual 1n Area B or in an isolation center shall
be for an indefinite period."

Mall Censored: All mall golng into and coming from Area B
was subject to censorship under the Manual regulations. Like-
wise no visitors were permitted to persons in the area except
by permission of the Project Director.

Army in Charge November 5 to May 24: The Army, which assumed
charge of the center on the night of November 4, was in
charge of Area B until May 24, After the WRA assumed full
charge of Area B, the Army continued to man watchtowers at
three corners of the area. During Army control of Area B,
the WRA Fact-Finding Committee and Internal Security made
recommendations to the Project Director on the transfer of
evacuees into and from Area B. The Project Director acted on
such recommendations.,

Growth of Area: The 1solation area, officially called Area B
and commonly called the stockade, was situated at approximate-
ly the same location northwest of the hosplital for the entire
period of its exlstence, November 5, 1943, to August 24, 1944,
It grew in size from one Army tent to five barracks, a mess-
hall and a bathhouse. The final site covered about two-thirds
of an acre. It was enclosed by a high wire fence.

During November 209 male evacuees were picked up and
Placed in Area B. 1In December, 107 were isolated in the area;
in January, 41; in February, 22; in March, 2; in April, 5;
and in May, 10, or a total of 396.

Transferring of evacuees from Area B back to the colony




was started as soon as investigations could be made. In some
cases the wrong person was picked up and he was immediately
returned to the colony. Larly release of other persons after
examination of their dockets also took place, When it appear-
ed that an individual could live peaceably in the main
residential area, he was accordingly transferred. On May 31
the number in Area B had dwindled to 62 men.

Analysis of Occupants: These 62 probably comprised a cross-
section of the total Area B population. On the basis of
evidence the administration had considered it advisable to
hold them in Area B for several months. Nearly all of them
were suspected in connection with the November 1 and November
4 incidents, the exceptions notably being 12 agitators from
Block 54 picked up in May.

An analysis of these 62 showed that about half of them
(28) were under 30 years old. All but three of the 62 had been
to Japan and all but seven had received some education there.
Twenty-one were born in the United States, 12 in Hawaii and
29 in Japan. Only three of the men under 35 years old were
born in Japan. Seventeen, including most of the leaders, came
from the Jerome Relocation Center, 11 from Heart Mountain,
eight were originally Tule Lake residents and seven were from
Colorado River. The other centers were less represented.

Negotiating Committee Leaders: The leaders in Area B were the
leaders of the Negotiating Committee which in November had
attempted to pressure the administration into giving them
control of the hospltal, mess operations and other functions.

Prior to giving themselves up to the Army and the WRA
on December 1, hail and Kuratomi contacted their hand-picked
representatives in the colony and pledged them to maintain
the "status quo" and to continue to obstruct the adminis-
tration. The "status quo" was a term which was soon accepted
as representing those evacuees who did not want to do other
than the bare minimum of work for the WRA, simply the
essentials necessary to keep the mess halls functioning and
the stoves going.

After entering Area B, Kal and Kuratomi continued to
stimulate support for themselves in the colony by staging
demonstrations. Their first move was a hunger strike.

First Demonstration by Men in Area B: This first demonstrat-
ion of any consequence staged by the men in Area B started
on New Year's Eve, December 31, 1943, when a written
declaration signed by the 199 men in the area stated that
they were henceforth refusing to eat until all were released
slmiltaneously and unconditionally. There was evidence at
the tlme that all of the men were not in accord with the




hunger strike and they were forced into it by leaders living
in what was called "headquarters barrack." These leaders
were the now-familliar names - Kail, Kuratomi, Uchida, Sugimoto,

Mori, etec.

The leaders asked the colony to show their support and
since a camp-wide hunger strike was not practical they were
told to take three steps: Have all block managers resign,
close all the canteens, and close all the offices.

However, none of these steps was taken although there
is 1ittle doubt that the colony in general was in sympathy
with the men in Area B rather than against them,

Hunger Strike Ends: The hunger strike ended at 6 p.m. on Jan-
uary 6 without any formality. One of the principal reasons
apparently was the belief held by many that the leaders were
cheating by eating fruit, candy and vitamin pills. This was
never proved, but orange peels and candy bar wrappers were
found around headquarters barrack and not around any of the
other four.

During the hunger strike the Army held a medical inspect-
ion daily of the men. Some were growing weak at the end of the
week's demonstration, '

Leaders Retaln Authority While in Area B: Through the numerous
releases of men from Area B to the colony the leaders were

able to maintain adequate contact with the colony., It

appeared that these leaders wielded considerable influence

in the colony in relations between the colony and the adminis-
tration such as the voting over the return to work in January
which resulted in a formal split of the colony into two
factions, the "status quo" and those who favored employment

by the WRA to the fullest possible extent. The vote was 60-40
in favor of going back to work. (After the murder of Y. Hitomi,
Co-op. general manager, on July 2, there were rumors in the
colony that the leadsrs in Area B had engineered the crime.
These rumors were a further indiecation that the colony con-
sldered that the men in Area B had political authority and
powerful support.)

The Area B group did not attempt further pPressure tactles
until after the area was taken over by the WRA. When releases
continued at a slow rate and it appeared to the leaders that
they would not be getting out of Area B for some time, they de-
cided to try pressure once again,

Second Hunger Strike: The second hunger demonstration was
started on July 19, 1944, the last previous meal having been
supper on July 18. Although there were 16 men in Area B at the
time, the cases of two had been previously reviewed and they
were transferred out of the Area two da&s later without regard
for the hunger demonstration. ‘




/. The hunger strike was not recognized as such by the
administration for several days. In the first place, there
was no formal declaration as there had been 1n January even
though the leaders were the same as then. Secondly, there
was an undetermined amount of food in the Area B kitchen and
missing supplies were unaccounted for. The administration had
no way of knowing whether any of the men were eating as the
Internal Security did not check minutely the food left at all
times in the kitchen nor did they comb the premises of Area
B, about 175 square yards, and they did not consider it
important to do so and thereby build up a situation that
harrassed the administration. Thirdly, it was hoped that the
demonstration would be short-lived if no official recognition
were taken of 1it.

On July 24, the 14 men were pursuing their fast and the
Project Director and Reports Officer cided it was time to
release the information to the public., This was done” and
thereafter the newspapers were informed of develogggnts. The
story was not given undue prominence in any paper.

Unlike the Army, the WRA did not make dally medical
checks of the men In the area. 1t was decided to consider the
men in Area B on the same basis as the other evacuee residents
of the Tule Lake Center. The WRA considered Area B a part of
the whole center, not a place of imprisonment to which a man
was committed for a definite length of time. The Internal
Security called roll every six hours and the men were asked
if they wanted anything. When medical attention was requested
for any of the group, he was taken to the hospital where the
doctor on call examlned him and gave the only dilagnosis possible.
If the man from Area B refused to accept hospital treatment,
which meant eating, he was returned to the area. If he accepted
treatment he was hospitalized and later discharged on the same
basis as any other patient.

During the demonstration, six men were taken to the
hospital, usually at the request of others in the group who
told Internal Security officers that they appeared in need
of treatment. Of these six taken to the hospital, all but one
refused treatment until all went to the hospital on July 29.
The one exception, Toko Yamane, entered the hospital on July
25, and was discharged to return to Area B, on July 28, While
he was in the hospital two others stayed overnight in the
hospital and returned to Area B without accepting treatment.

First Break in Strike: On July 29, the Project Lirector and the
Reports Officer decided that the administration could not
continue to recognize the hunger strike as genuine for two

main reasons: First, the quantity of food in Area B unaccounted
for; second, the presence in Area B of Yamane who had continued
taking nourishment after returning to Area B from the hospital.




A news releasse to this effect was lssued. Later the same day
all of the men in the area asked to be taken to the hospital.
They were all hospitalized that night. It appeared that this
was to be a face-saving conclusion of the demonstration. Also,
they had a chance to learn from Yamane of the good food and
attention he received at the hospital.

They remalned in the hospital for different lengths of
time, all at least a week, and some longer, depending upon
their recovery from the effects of the fast. Although they
received excellent food and careful attention their recovery
was retarded by their poor cooperation with hospital authorities,
by refusal to stay in bed, and by walking around. While Internal
Security men guarded them colony contacts were made by
evacuee nurses and nurses aldes.

Resume Fast: All were back 1ln Area B by August 7 and they
immediately resumed theilr hunger strike. Because the adminis-
tration could not establish definitely that they were going
without food, it took the position that Area B was a part of
the center and what the residents in it did without causing
disorder was of no exceptional concern to the administration,

Officials Contact Men: From the start of the hunger strike on
July 19, Willard E. Schmidt, Chief of Internal Security, and
other Internal Security and administration people had made
nmumerous contacts with the men in Area B. They first told Mr.
Schmidt that they were not going to eat until they saw Mr,
Best, After George Kuratomi, as spokesman, had been taken to
see Mr. Best, the group said they would not eat until released
from Area B or until told exactly when they would be released.
This was in 1line with the Area B leaders' insistence on regard-
ing their residence in Area B as a jall sentence. They pro-
fessed to be lgnorant of the reasons for their isolation in
spite of detailed explanations by the WRA.

Release of All Planned: The administration was considering the
release of all the men in Area B at the time they started the
hunger strike. Without making any promise and with no attempt
whatscever to bargain with the men, Mr., Schmidt tried to get
them to see the futility of the demonstration., It was probable
that the men, when they started their fast, wanted to continue
it until the representative of the Spanish Consul, Captain
Martin, visited the camp July 28 and 29. He was not given
permission to visit them since all were American citizens.

On July 29 the men asked to be taken again to the hospital

for treatment.

Relatives Vislt: Wives and children of several of the men were
taken to the Area B office for visits., It is interesting to
note that even after the strike had been on for 10 days, men




were able to plick up children weighing 30 to 40 pounds and
hold them. Some of the wives urged the men to eat,

Strike Ends Again: About 9 p.m. on August 12 the men in Area

/ B sent for Mr. Schmidt. They told him that one of the men was
in bad condition and should be taken to the hospital. MNr,
Schmidt told them that none could go to the hospital because
they had refused to follow the doctors!' orders after leaving
the hospital the previous time. The men then told him they
would confer further. In ten minutes they sald they had decided
to end their demonstration. Dr. J., C. Sleath, Chief Medical
Officer, supervised the preparation of hot cereal at the
hospital which was taken to Area B about midnight. After the
men had started to eat, the man about whose health the others
were concerned was taken to the hospital. The men continued to
eat and, after getting over the initial discomfort of ending a
prolonged fast, recovered rapidly. The administration heard
that the men saved face by telling the colony that they had
come to a satisfactory agreement with the administration and
thus could end their fast. :

Divided Opinion on Extent of Fast: At the time the whole group
went to the hospital on July 29 opinion was divided among
doctors and nurses as to whether or not the men had been on a
total fast. They dieted on water, but supposedly ate nothing.
Some nurses and doctors believed some had been eating and
others salid it was too difficult to determine. The men were
weak and upon breaking their fast suffered visibly from cramps
and upset stomach.

Support of Second Hunger Strike: This demonstration appeared
to receive divided support from the colony. When it came to a
choice of supporting the Area B group or of being on the
administration's side, the colony probably was united behind
the Area B group. However, there was little active support

of the course they were pursuing. The hospital staff, for
instance, very carefully avoided any political entanglements
over the matter of treating the Area B men and the latter were
treated by the doctor on duty regardless of whether he was
evacuee or Caucasian.

Small Group of Women Active: Eight or nlne women with close
attachments to men in Area B (wives, sisters, sweethearts,
future mothers-in-law, etc.) were very active in trying to
arouse the colony on behalf of the men in Area B, A petition
which appealed sympathetically for transfer of the men to the
colony because they had been separated from their families so
many months was circulated during the hunger strike, but did
not reach the administration. It was reportedly burned by Mrs.
Kai, Reverend Kai's wife.

These women staged a sit down in the project attorney's




office on the morning of July 28. The project attorney called
in Mr, Schmidt who talked the women into going home shortly
after noon,

A singular sit-down was staged by Singer Terada, George
Kuragtomi's girl friend, at the Internal Security office on
Saturday, June 10. She said she would not move until George
was released from area . and they could be married. Since she
was expecting a baby, every effort was made to get her to go
home. Even her doctor, an evacuee, tried unsuccessfully.
About 3 a.m. Sunday morning, June 11, she finally consented
to be taken home. On Tuesday her baby was born,

Signally to Colony: When the men returned to Area B from the
“hospital, the wallboard which had been placed on the fence of
Area B on the side facing the colony had been removed for use
in the construction of the new Area B in the west corner of the
military area. Thls enabled the men in Area B to be seen by
evacuees standing in the colony area. The women and others
frequently appeared in the evening to signal and to write in
the air to the Area B men who signalled back.

Women Make Threat: On August 11, at about 10 p.m., eight of
these women appeared at a small gate in the colony fence

close to the Internal Security headquarters. They used abusive
language to the Internal Security men on duty, threatened their
llves and made the threat that if the men in Area B were not
taken to the hospltal by the next morning, the women would
bring an organized gang to the administration area and do

some thing about 1t.

The next morning they appeared at Gate 3, the main gate
to the colony. 8ince they had attempted a sit-down strike in
the project attorney's office, these women were not given
permission to go to the administration area, After a couple
of hours they left the gate and nothing eventful happened.

The same night, August 12, the men ended their fast,

Rev, Kal One of First Transferred: Rev. Kal, leader of the
Negotiating Committee, was transferred from the stockade on
August 17 with another man., This was in the nature of a
strategic move on the part of the administration to deflate
Kal's ego and discredit his leadership by transferring him
ahead of the others. On August 24, George Kuratomi, spokesman
for the Negotiating Committee, and two others were transferred.
The next day the last seven were transferred together.

Since the return of the recalcitrant 14 to the colony
they have not been evident in any activity in relation to the
administration and have been peaceable and on the whole un-
obstrusive.

/s/ Harry L. Black

Prepared bys John Bigelow
Reports Officer Harry L. Black
Sept. 12, 1944 Acting Project Director




